RECEIVED

Feb 22 2023

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Appellate Case No. 2021-001275

The Honorable Robert Bonds, Circuit Court Judge

The State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

Tiesh Rhue.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Ranee Saunders
Elizabeth Franklin-Best
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113
Columbia, South Carolina 29204
(803) 445-1333

Counsel for Appellant

Other Counsel:
Julianna Battenfield
South Carolina Attorney General’s Office
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3372

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in failing to suppress the evidence obtained pursuant to the invalid search warrants.**
- II. Whether the trial court erred in admitting unfairly prejudicial autopsy.**
- III. Whether the trial court erred in denying the directed verdict motions.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Tiesh Rhue was indicted in July 2017 for murder, obstruction of justice, desecration of human remains, and two counts of criminal conspiracy. She proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Robert J. Bonds October 11–15 and 18–20, 2021. She was ultimately convicted of murder and obstruction of justice and sentenced to thirty-seven years' imprisonment. Tiesh filed a timely notice of appeal October 28, 2021.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only.” *State v. Cross*, 427 S.C. 465, 473, 832 S.E.2d 281, 285 (2019). “[T]he conduct of a trial is largely within the discretion of the presiding judge, to the end that a fair and impartial trial may be had.” *State v. Heath*, 232 S.C. 384, 391, 102 S.E.2d 268, 272 (1958). An abuse of that discretion occurs where the trial court’s conclusions are based on unsupported factual conclusions or controlled by an error of law. *State v. Prather*, 429 S.C. 583, 598, 840 S.E.2d 551, 559 (2020).

ARGUMENT

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On March 9, 2017, Alex Harrison, Sr. reported to the Georgetown Police Department that his son, Alex Harrison, Jr. (Victim), was missing. R. 621. Although he was unable to provide details, Brittani Green, the mother of Victim's children, also went to the police station the same day to report him missing. R. 625, 622, 726. Green informed the police that Victim was married to a Tiesh Rhue (Tiesh) and investigators went to her house on 1015 Highmarket Street (the Rhue residence) to speak with her, but were told she was at work by her father, Alexander Rhue, Sr. (Rhue Sr.) and brother, Alexander Rhue, Jr. (Rhue Jr.). R. 627–28, 1310. Officers spoke with Tiesh at the Georgetown Steel Mill, where she worked. R. 628. Tiesh informed them she and Victim had a fight the night of February 25 around 10:00 p.m. when she returned home from work because he was on the phone with a paramour. R. 629. She told them he then retrieved some items and left; she had not seen him or heard from him since that night. R. 629. Officers spoke with Victim's employer and learned he had not been to work since the 25th. R. 630.

Rosario Grate, Victim's paramour, also came to the police department and indicated she had last seen him the night of the February 25 when she dropped him off at his dad's house around 9:00 p.m. R. 632. Grate also told them Tiesh had used Victim's phone to call her around 11:00 p.m. R. 632–33.

On March 10, officers returned to the steel mill and asked if Tiesh would voluntarily come to the station, and she agreed to go and speak with them. R. 636; State's Ex. 21. Tiesh again explained that when she got home, she found Victim and Grate texting and Tiesh called back Grate with Victim's phone. State's Ex. 21. Victim then got some of things and left. State's Ex. 21. She stated she and Victim had been "off and on" and Victim was not living with her full time. State's

Ex. 21. This was not the first time he had walked off in anger and not contacted her for a stretch of time, which is why she never reported him missing. State's Ex. 21. Tiesh explained after he left, she never left the house after that, but took a shot of tequila and went in her son's room to sleep with him. State's Ex. 21. When officers asked to search her phone and a deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) swab, she voluntarily consented to both. State's Ex. 21.

Officers returned to the Rhue residence later that day with a search warrant to look for "proof that he lived there" and they found documents in a bedroom drawer addressed to Victim at that address and his medication. R. 649–51. They knew he was moving around and staying in different places. R. 1318. While searching the room for documents, officers lifted up a rug and blanket on the floor and saw carpet padding where the carpet had been cut away. R. 655, 1324. They performed a presumptive blood test on the carpet, which reacted positive. R. 655, 1325. Officers then obtained a second search warrant and cut out the carpet padding down to the subfloor, which was discolored. R. 1331. The subfloor also had positive reaction for blood. R. 1333. They also took sheets and fabric from the mattress. R. 1345. Officers took Tiesh to the station again on March 11 for another interview and went the Rhue residence afterward to interview Rhue Sr. R. 666, 1349; State's Ex. 27. That same day, Perry Collins called 911 to report a body in the Black River near his house. R. 855. The body was determined to be Victim based on his tattoo. R. 694. The body showed significant decay and what appeared to be animal activity; his wrists and ankles were bound by speaker wire. R. 694, 1354. Tiesh was arrested that day. R. 705.

Officers returned to the Rhue Residence March 14 and executed their third search warrant to search for speaker wire, sharp object, or other evidence related to his murder. R. 694. The search included the residence as well as vehicles. R. 698. Officers did not find any wire matching the ones wrapped around Victim's feet and hands. R. 1410. Although they collected a box cutter

and knives, they had a negative reaction to the presumptive blood test. R. 1357–58. Officers did not uncover any blood or other evidence in the vehicles they processed. R. 1359–60, 1411.

Ultimately, Tiesh, her brother, and her father were eventually charged with homicide, obstruction of justice, two counts of criminal conspiracy, and desecration. R. 397–399; Indictments. They proceeded to a joint jury trial before the Honorable Robert J. Bonds that began October 11, 2021. R. 102.

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to exclude evidence obtained from the first three search warrants of the Rhue home, arguing the searches were made in violation of the defendants’ rights under the Fourth Amendment of the United States and Article I, section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution, and the warrants further failed to comply with the warrant statute. Mot. to Suppress. The trial court conducted a pretrial hearing on September 24, 2021. R. 22. Defense counsel argued the initial search warrant lacked probable cause because it did not state any crime had been committed, and the subsequent warrants were invalid because they were based on evidence that were fruits of the poisonous tree. R. 40, 45–46. The State refused to concede the first warrant did not allege a crime but argued it “[i]mplicitly” alleged that a person was missing. R. 50. The State admitted the officers moved a container and pulled back a rug during this search for documents and discovered stained carpet padding that was exposed from where the carpet had been cut away. R. 58. After the spot field tested for positive, officers went to secure a second warrant to look for blood evidence based on this discovery. R. 58–59. Pursuant to that warrant, the officers removed sections of the carpet padding, blankets, and cut away some fabric. R. 60. The third search warrant of the home was executed after Victim’s body was found. R. 62. The State argued that even if the first two warrants were invalid, the evidence was subject to inevitable

discovery because the third warrant would be valid even if reference to the tainted evidence was removed because the affidavit indicated Victim's body was found in the Black River. R. 62.

Defense counsel argued the Warrant Clause requires facts to be alleged which would connect the crime to the location specified, and there was only evidence the body was found ten miles from the Rhue residence. R. 65–66. The affidavit did not state Victim was last seen at the Rhue residence or otherwise connect it with that location independent of evidence obtained pursuant to the first two warrants. R. 67. Noting its concerns, the trial court requested the State submit a memorandum prior to ruling. R. 72. The trial court ultimately concluded both the first and second warrants lacked probable cause but found the third search warrant had sufficient independent probable case and therefore any evidence gathered pursuant to the first two warrants would have been inevitably discovered pursuant to the third warrant. R. 101.

Prior to the start of trial, the trial court held a *Jackson v. Denno*¹ hearing on the defendants' statements to law enforcement. Before Tiesh even articulated her challenge, the trial court held her longest interrogation, which was over an hour long, was predominately custodial and she was never apprised of her rights pursuant to *Miranda*.² R. 264, 272–73. It therefore limited the admissibility to the first twenty-two minutes. R. 274; State's Ex. 27.

At trial, the State presented testimony of Rosario Grate, who explained she and Victim had been dating a little over a year at the time of his disappearance and he had been staying with her the week prior to his disappearance. R. 771, 773. She said they were in the habit of talking almost every day and had been a good place in their relationship leading up to the night of his disappearance. R. 776, 779. On the night of February 25, 2017, Grate stated she picked Victim

¹ 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

² *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

up from work and later took him to his father's house. R. 775, 779. She talked to him later that evening as well, but then received some phone calls from Tiesh on Victim's phone starting around 10 p.m. where there "was words exchanged" and then she stopped answering, assuming it was Tiesh. R. 780. Grate testified Victim had previously told her that he would meet her out later that night, but he never came, and she did not hear from him again. R. 784. Investigator Powell testified she did not report him missing for almost two weeks, on March 10, 2017. R. 632, 1971

The State also introduced testimony of Investigator Allen Morris, who worked on the case with Investigator Powell. Investigator Morris acknowledged that the Rhue residence was the only residence officers searched, and even though they knew Victim was basically living with Grate, they never sought to search her home or vehicle. R. 1420, 1433–34. He further stated that there was no search undertaken after the missing person report on March 9 and although it was later discovered that people had been looking for Victim by the Black River March 8, he was not sure about any inquiry as to that information. R. 1431, 1437.

William Pierce of the City of Georgetown Police Department also testified as to the search of the Rhue residence. He noted that the carpet padding, which had been covered by the blanket, had no foot traffic, and there were loose fibers of the carpet around area where it had been cut away. R. 1109. He testified the stain on the padding appeared to have seeped through to the subfloor. R. 1111. After the body was recovered, he went through the house with Leucocrystal violet to field test for the presence of blood. R. 1115. He found blood by the window and door jamb of the closet in the bedroom, and near the laundry room, but none in the kitchen just outside the bedroom. R. 1116, 1119.

Dr. Gray Amick, who had worked as the DNA Technical Lead and Lab Director for Richland County Sheriff's Department, testified as to his analysis in the case. He tested some

carpet padding and bed sheets from the Rhue residence and compared them to Victim's DNA. The sheets presumptively tested positive for blood, which appeared to be from an unknown female. R. 1630–32. Dr. Amick tested three carpet padding samples. R. 1632. The DNA result from the first cutting was too weak for match purposes and the second was inconclusive for match purposes. R. 1633. The third cutting produced a weak DNA sample but had enough information for Dr. Amick to conclude the DNA was not a match to Victim. R. 1636. Dr. Amick then combined the samples from all three cuttings and determined the DNA was a mixture, as opposed to a single source and he excluded Victim as a contributor. R. 1638. Dr. Amick also tested the cuttings by using a "forensic vacuum" and determined he could not exclude Victim from that sample. R. 1639.

Forensic scientist Sara Goodman of the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division also testified as to her analysis of samples taken from the Rhue residence including cuttings from the carpet padding, mattress, and swabs from around the house. DNA from the carpet padding matched Victim and the cuttings from the mattress contained a DNA mixture, and Victim and Tiesh were possible contributors to that mixture. R. 1663. The samples from the walls had similarly varied results: DNA from the wall by the window was a mixture of at least three individuals including Tiesh, DNA from the wall by the closet matched Victim, DNA from wall by the laundry room was negative for blood but was a DNA mixture of which Tiesh was a major contributor. R. 1670–72.

Two individuals testified that Rhue, Jr. had confessed to committing the murder to him. Antwan Simmons stated Rhue, Jr. asked if he could ride with him on his drive to Conway and then "out of nowhere" Rhue, Jr. said he "took [Victim] for a ride," which Simmons took to mean "taking someone out, killing them." R. 807. Austin Kight testified he met Rhue, Jr. in the J. Rueben Long

Detention Center, who, after about thirty minutes of knowing him, stated he was there on a murder charge but they did not have any evidence on him. R. 1032.

The State put forth various witnesses discussing cellphone usage. Angela Gardner of the Regional Organized Crime Information Center testified as to her analysis mapping of the cellphone usages of the defendants and Victim the last evening he was seen. She stated all of Tiesh's calls were made or received in the sector of the tower within the vicinity of the Rhue residence. R. 1168–69. Allen Huggins of the Conway Police Department testified that his analysis of the cell phone data from the defendants and Victim indicated that in the early morning of February 26: Victim's phone stopped connecting to the network around 1:53 a.m.; Rhue Sr.'s phone stopped connecting to the network around 1:59 a.m. until 8:40 a.m.; Rhue Jr.'s phone stopped connecting to the network between roughly 2:09 a.m. and 2:45 a.m.; and Tiesh's phone stopped connecting to the network between 2:00 a.m. and 5:00 a.m. R. 1564, 1565–66, 1568–71, 1574. Officer Barry Powers testified as to Tiesh's cell phone records in regard to her communication with Victim, who was listed as "Hopefully" on her phone. Officer Powers talked through a month of texts, mostly reflecting how they had an open relationship with the issues that might accompany that, but they still enjoyed each other. R. 1974–2021; 1686–1691. After Victim's disappearance on the evening of February 25, Tiesh texted him four more times over the next two days asking where he was and why he did not respond. R. 2021; 1692.

The State also offered testimony from the forensic pathologist who performed the autopsy, Dr. Cynthia Schandl. Prior to her testimony, the trial court conducted a hearing on the admissibility of photographs taken during the autopsy. The defendants objected on the grounds that they were not relevant and only intended to enflame the passions of the jury. R. 824. Specifically, counsel argued that the cause of death was unknown, and who or what caused the

defects present on the body were similarly unknown, therefore the pathologist did not need the exhibits. R. 824. Furthermore, the defendants argued that multiple pictures of the bindings from various angles were not relevant because no argument or suggestion was made that Victim bound himself. R. 837, 840. The State argued that because the “cause of death is in contention” and defendants were charged with desecration, the damage to the body was relevant. R. 822. The trial court excluded several duplicative photographs, but ruled the remaining photographs, multiple pictures of the bindings as well as photographs of the body on the autopsy table, were relevant to show “the sad reality of the situation” and were admissible under *State v. Collins*.³ R. 847.

Dr. Schandl testified that when she examined the body, it was in a moderate state of decomposition and there were defects on the right and left sides of the torso and thighs suggestive of animal predation. R. 975. She testified there was no bullet found within the body and the bones were all intact, but there was speaker wire tightly bound around the ankles and wrists in intricate knots. R. 975–76. She described one photo “right sort of on his middle you can see there's a fairly large defect in his stomach wall and peeking through are some intestines there.” R. 978: State’s Ex. 60.

She further discussed that there was no evidence of hemorrhage or stroke of blood in the brain. R. 982. She testified that suffocation or drowning could only be proved by the surrounding circumstances so she could not say he drowned. R. 990. “And so from all of these -- that's why I keep calling them defects rather than stab wounds, or lacerations, you know, something more specific. These are defects, because I don't know whether they happened before he died or after he died.” R. 991. She testified that “many of these defects to the body may well have been from predation from the creatures that were in the environment.” R. 991.

³ 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014).

At the close of the State's evidence, the defendants moved for directed verdict on all charges.⁴ Tiesh argued that the evidence was entirely speculative and inconclusive. The State put forth no evidence of how or where Victim died. R. 1740. No testimony was offered as to when the blood samples from the house were deposited. R. 1741. The evidence is that Tiesh was at or around her home throughout the night and Victim was found miles away. R. 1641–42. She had been forthcoming with her answers, and voluntarily gave her phone for search as well as her DNA. R. 1743. The State argued the missing carpet and blood samples were evidence he died in the home and the fact that his phone deactivated while still in the area suggested when he died. R. 1743. The trial court denied the motion as to Rhue Jr. on the murder charge, but delayed ruling on the remaining directed verdict motions until the following day. R. 1751.

The trial court granted directed verdict as to the desecration of the body charges, finding that the time of death was unknown and there was no evidence as to whether he was dead after the speaker wire was wrapped around his wrists and ankles or when he was placed in the river. R. 1755. The trial court further questioned whether it would even be desecration of a body if it was thrown in a river and there is just not any evidence as relates to him being touched after he was deceased. R. 1755. However, the trial court denied the directed verdict motions as to the murder charges against Tiesh and her father and the obstruction charges as to all three. R. 1676.

All three defendants declined to testify in their own defense, and the defendants rested. R. 1776. After roughly five hours of deliberation, the jury returned a verdict finding Rhue Sr. not guilty of murder but finding Tiesh and Rhue Jr. guilty of murder and all three guilty of obstruction of justice. R. 1928. Tiesh was sentenced to thirty-seven years' incarceration for the murder charge

⁴ The conspiracy charges were nolle prosecuted for a "hand of one is the hand of all" jury charge p.1411:4–8

and eight years' incarceration for the obstruction charge to be served concurrently. R. 1959. This appeal followed.

ANALYSIS

When a close community is confronted with the tragedy of murder, there is naturally a desire to immediately find someone to blame, perhaps someone from off. Yet those are the very moments when refusing to yield the protections of the law must remain a constant focus. Law enforcement failed to act with that clarity and the incautious nature of the investigation became magnified during Tiesh's prosecution. Likely to the detriment of ever uncovering the truth. Officers targeted Tiesh from the start and pursued her and her family exclusively, and mostly through improper means. The very basic safeguards of our constitution were abandoned: her home was searched—repeatedly—without proper warrants, and she was subjected to a custodial interview without being informed of her rights.

Attempting to save the case, the State leaned into the visceral reaction of the jury as the target of the prosecution. The strategy was not gilding the lily but substituting sensationalism for proof. Knowing it had no evidence to present on a desecration charge, the State paraded that notion before the jury and relied on it to allow in evidence what would appeal to the sensitivities and passions of the jury. The trial court very carefully excluded much of the inflammatory and gratuitous evidence the State attempted to include but stopped short of entirely gutting its case. Yet when the safeguards of the law are trounced there is no hope for preventing subsequent abridgement unless the gravity of those missteps are given light with unwavering reproof of the judiciary. Curtailments of our rights under the auspices of good intentions leads directly to the tyranny emboldened by the premise that the ends justify the means. It may be agreed that every homicide deserves the justice of identifying the guilty soul, but that is not just any soul. Though

law enforcement “engaged in the often competitive enterprise of ferreting out crime⁵” may wish to cut corners, the law prescribes that justice for a victim can only be achieved through gathering sufficient evidence obtained through a legal investigation. That did not happen here. Not all convictions deserve defending and Tiesh asks that her convictions pursuant to this pockmarked investigation and prosecution be reversed.

I. The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Suppress the Evidence Obtained Pursuant to the invalid search warrants.

A. All three search warrants lacked probable cause.

Although the trial court properly held that the first two search warrants lacked probable cause and the evidence should be suppressed, it erred in ultimately concluding the third search warrant was valid and therefore any evidence found pursuant to the invalid search warrants would be inevitably discovered. When removing the reference to the evidence illegally recovered, the affidavit accompanying the third search warrant was insufficient to demonstrate probable cause to search the Rhue residence.

“On appeals from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds, this Court applies a deferential standard of review and will reverse if there is clear error.” *State v. Adams*, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 344 (2014). “However, this deference does not bar this Court from conducting its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge’s decision is supported by the evidence.” *State v. Tindall*, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010).

The Fourth Amendment protects against unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. The South Carolina Constitution similarly recognizes this right and further protects

⁵ *Johnson v. United States*, 333 U.S. 10, 14 (1948).

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