STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**ORIGINAL**

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

JAVON DION GIBBS,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001846

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED  
MAR 08 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**ORIGINAL**

---

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

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

## ARGUMENT

The court correctly ruled respondent had an expectation of privacy in his cell phone records and the CSLI, that there was not probable cause for the issuance of the search warrant, particularly where the vague allegations did not even state what, if any, crime respondent allegedly committed, and it did not assert any belief in the reliability of the "sources".

### **Relevant Facts**

At the beginning of the hearing, the state confirmed, "this is a no body case." R. 5, ll. 10-25. The judge observed that he had read the respondent's motion to suppress, and he stated: "I am concerned about the sufficiency of this search warrant." R. 7, ll. 10-17.

Defense counsel Wilson asserted respondent had an expectation of privacy guaranteed by the Fourth Amendment in the cell phone records, and the CSLI. Defense counsel Wilson then read the affidavit to the search warrant for the court:

**MR. WILSON:** On 8/27/13, the mother of Zachary Malinowski **reported him missing** from 2918 Highway 905 in the Conway section of Horry County. **Family and friends were interviewed, including a close girlfriend and the most recent contact they had with him was 8/25/13 by phone.** This is not normal for him and it is believed something happened to him. A subsequent search of the victim's phone showed activity up to 4:24 where the phone completely shut off in the Aynor area. His vehicle was located several days later completely burned and other property was located on the side of different roadways. *As of 11/5/13, the victim or his body have not been located. The phone number that he searched belongs to Javon Gibbs, who had been identified by many as being involved with his disappearance based on drug related incidents before his disappearance. The male denied the allegations and identified that he did not want to provide a DNA sample or take a polygraph to exclude him. It is my belief that searching the records of Javon Gibbs will provide information regarding any contact with the victim and his whereabouts during the late, excuse me, during the date and time the victim went missing.*

R. 8, ll. 6-25 (emphasis added).

The judge observed that respondent's exercise of his constitutional rights to remain silent, and not to submit to a polygraph or give a DNA sample could not be considered as evidence of guilt. R. 9, ll. 14-21.

The state then called investigator Jonathan Martin as a witness regarding the search warrant. R. 10, l. 9 – 11, l. 10. Martin told the judge he did not have a copy of his investigative report but he asserted that he had numerous statements “from people that Javon Gibbs and Christopher Brown had been involved in a drug transaction” with the missing person [Zach]. R. 11, l. 10 – 12, l. 6. Martin offered that respondent's girlfriend told him that, “Zach had an ongoing issue with Christopher Brown and Javon Gibbs . . . over drug dealing.” R. 13, ll. 1-11. Allegedly, the drug deal was for \$1400, and “they had taken his half and refused to give it up.” R. 13, ll. 12-16.

Martin said that Christopher Brown had been arrested for having a stolen gun and “Zach was being blamed for the arrest and there had been some animosity over that.” R. 15, ll. 9-14. Martin talked about another incident involving “Marcus Smith, Chris Brown, and Zach Malinowski at a park, and there was a shots fired call that the police responded to.” R. 16, ll. 1-5. Allegedly, Christopher Brown and Marcus Smith were arrested in this incident. R. 16, ll. 21-23.

Martin also offered that respondent had denied ever being at “Zach's house, you know, pretty much accounting that he wasn't with Zach the night of the incident.” R. 17, ll. 6-21.

On the issue of reliability, the following occurred with Jonathan Martin:

Q: Okay. Well, let me ask you this. In the warrant that you actually wrote to the court, **did you actually talk about the reliability of these particular witnesses** that were saying these things about him?

A: **No, I did not.**

Q: Okay. Did you discuss with the magistrate at all in your conversation with him about the fact that you knew that these people were reliable, that y'all had done with business with them before, that they were confidential informants or whatever?

A: None of them were confidential informants; they were all witnesses to the acquaintance of Zach or ---

Q: Well, let me ask you this, did you give the actual Magistrate the actual police report that you had?

A: For right there?

Q: Yes.

A: No.

R. 24, ll. 2-18. (emphasis added).

When asked whether Martin talked about the reliability of the hearsay witnesses, Martin responded, "I probably did not go through reliability. **I did nothing to gauge each person's reliability . . .**" R. 30, ll. 8-15. (emphasis added). Martin also said that the search warrant stated that it only hoped respondent could provide information "regarding any contact with the victim and his whereabouts during the date and time that the victim went missing." Martin added, "That's all I can go off of is my beliefs." R. 33, ll. 13-23.

Martin admitted he did not put in the affidavit that he believed respondent committed a crime. He also did not allege respondent did anything illegal or wrong. R. 33, l. 24 – 34, l. 4.

Defense counsel Wilson then noted that there was no assertion as to the reliability of the informants or the hearsay witnesses, nor any statement of why the police believed "a person committed any particular crime." R. 35, l. 16 – 36, l. 24.

The judge observed that "this sworn affidavit didn't even say a crime has been committed." Defense counsel agreed, and he added that the warrant and affidavit were so

deficient in this case that there could not be any assertion that good faith could save them. Counsel Wilson also argued that the affidavit was so irresponsibly put together in this case that an inquiry “into the knowing or reckless falsity of the affidavit” was not out of the realm of a responsible inquiry. R. 37, l. 7 – 38, l. 17. See Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978).

As to probable cause, the judge asked, “Probable cause for what?” and defense counsel responded: “Exactly.” Counsel said it was apparent that the state was merely going on a fishing expedition in this case, and that there were “a number of different theories out here that they had regarding to what happened to this young kid.” R. 38, ll. 2-25. Wilson added, “Some people were saying, look, we saw him here, some people said he was kicked in the head, some people said he was hanged from a tree. They were getting psychics calling in giving them information . . .” R. 38, l. 18 – 39, l. 21. Counsel added:

And the report is very detailed, but nowhere in the report -- when you look through the first, I think it was 31 pages or 60 pages before he issued the warrant for Javon Gibbs, there was almost no mention of Javon. Now there was a lot of talk about Chris Brown, but there's no mention of Javon Gibbs being this big drug dealer. There weren't incidents. There was one accusation that, you know, Zach said that, again, this man may have taken \$600 from him. There was one person that said that. Otherwise, this other stuff was not true. Jamal Fleming never said it, Marcus Smith never said it, no one said this was happening. So, again, the falsity of the affidavit concerns me, but also the fact that that it does not give me conclusions as to what they're looking at this for other than to say, okay, we're looking at it for his whereabouts. **Well, if that's the case then, we don't need to use it against him in a murder trial.**

R. 39, ll. 3-18. (emphasis added).

The judge then stated:

THE COURT: Let me ask you, counsel, why in the world in a case of this magnitude would you submit an affidavit for a search warrant that does not describe a crime and the only thing it says that the Defendant has been identified by many as being involved with his disappearance, not murder, not kidnapping, disappearance

based on drug related incidents before his disappearance and not describe it, not put any information as to who the many are, which we've now determined not to be many, maybe one, or put in anything concerning the reliability and the officer says he had no information concerning their reliability, nothing to show any corroboration. **Who in the world goes before a Magistrate with that kind of affidavit in a possible murder case? Please, please, I've only been doing this 40 years.** You know, I'm new to it, I learn every day, but tell me about that.

R. 44, l. 17 – 45, l. 6 (emphasis added).

Defense counsel Wilson repeated that respondent had an expectation of privacy that was a reasonable expectation, and that the state needed a valid search warrant based upon probable cause that respondent had committed a crime, and which alleged the reliability of the hearsay sources. R. 46, l. 8 – 49, l. 2. The state argued that a warrant was not required for “business records” which it, at the time, claimed the CSLI was. R. 49, l. 3 – 50, l. 13. As stated, the judge granted the motion to suppress, and later issued a written order. R. 101 – 102.

### **Discussion**

In Carpenter v. United States, 138 S.Ct. 2206 (2018), the Supreme Court held that an individual maintains a legitimate expectation of privacy in the records of his physical movements as captured through CSLI. In this case, there was no exigency involved, and under Carpenter, there was no exception to the government not needing a search warrant supported by a probable cause before it acquired the CSLI and phone records from his wireless carrier.<sup>1</sup>

Cell site records hold for many Americans “the privacies of life.” Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373, 403, 134 S.Ct. 2473, 2494-2495 (2014). That was one major reason the Supreme

---

<sup>1</sup> The state writes in its brief, written prior to Carpenter, that United States v. Graham, 824 F.3d 421 (4th Cir. 2016) (en banc), holding that individuals do not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in CSLI was persuasive and controlling. Brief of Petitioner at 5. However, the Fourth Circuit in United States vs. Chavez, 894 F.3d 593, 608 (4th Cir. 2018), later recognized that United States v. Graham was abrogated by Carpenter.

Court in Carpenter rejected the government's position that CSLI records should be treated under the "third-party doctrine" stemming from the notion that where an individual knowingly shares information with another that he or she has a reduced expectation of privacy. See United States v. Miller, 425 U.S. 435 (1976) (financial records held by a bank); Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 734 (1979). The same cannot be said of CSLI records as is said of bank records because that would be tantamount to holding that because an individual has his or her cell phone turned on that they have knowingly shared all of the details of their present and past whereabouts with law enforcement.

Thus, the issue of a "legitimate expectation of privacy" in respondent's cell phone records and the CSLI documents are now settled in respondent's favor for Fourth Amendment purposes. The issue remains whether Judge Hyman correctly ruled that the affidavit and search warrant process here did not provide probable cause for the magistrate to determine there was a fair probability that respondent committed a crime based on information given by individuals the government deemed reliable, and that evidence tending to assist in proving respondent's guilt would be discovered following the issuance of the search warrant.

As seen, the affidavit did not allege respondent committed **any crime**. It only stated that it was the "belief" that searching the records of respondent would "provide information regarding any contact with the victim and his whereabouts during the date and time the victim went missing." R. 8, ll. 6-25. In other words, the police were literally going on a fishing expedition hoping that respondent's cell phone records and CSLI information would "provide information regarding any contact with the missing victim. R. 8, ll. 22-25.

Therefore, there can be no assertion that this search warrant affidavit stated there was a fair probability that evidence of a crime would be found in a particular place if the search

warrant was issued, since what crime respondent allegedly committed was not even asserted in the affidavit or warrant. Further, there was also nothing set forth in the affidavit about the veracity or reliability of the persons supplying hearsay information. See Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213 (1983); State v. Johnson, 302 S.C. 243, 247, 395 S.E.2d 167, 169 (1990).

The state's brief at 16-17 claims there was "ample information to support the probable cause finding made by the magistrate judge." However, the affidavit itself, as seen above, only stated it was the belief of the affiant that respondent's CSLI records could provide information regarding any contact with the missing alleged victim. This was truly a fishing expedition, and the judge here correctly ruled that the affidavit did not establish probable cause nor set forth any assertion about the reliability of the "sources."

Finally, defense counsel correctly argued any assertion of a good faith exception pursuant to Leon<sup>2</sup> in this case was specious.<sup>3</sup> The trial judge correctly observed he did not understand "how in the world" anyone in this case could assert that this affidavit provided probable cause for the issuance of the search warrant. Again, it did not assert what, if any, crime respondent may have committed, and it made no assertion of the reliability of the "sources" of its information.<sup>4</sup> Counsel correctly noted the sloppiness of the state's affidavit raised a Franks v. Delaware<sup>5</sup> issue of the deliberate falsehood or reckless disregard for the truth in obtaining the

---

<sup>2</sup> United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984).

<sup>3</sup> Further, though United States v. Leon has been cited and discussed by our Supreme Court, a good faith exception has never been specifically adopted by that Court.